IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC02-449

Upon Request From the Attorney General For An Advisory Opinion As To The Validity Of An Initiative Petition

ADVISORY OPINION TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL RE: LOCAL TRUSTEES AND STATEWIDE GOVERNING BOARD TO MANAGE FLORIDA'S UNIVERSITY SYSTEM

INITIAL BRIEF OF FLORIDIANS FOR EDUCATION REFORM, AN INTERESTED POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE OPPOSING AMENDMENT

BROAD AND CASSEL

M. Stephen Turner, P.A. Kelly A. O'Keefe 215 South Monroe Street, Suite 400 P.O. Drawer 11300 Tallahassee, FL 32302 (850) 681-6810 (850) 681-9792 Fax

Counsel for Floridians for Education Reform

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Court has for review an amendment to the Florida Constitution proposed through the citizens' initiative petition process of Article XI, Section 3, Florida Constitution. The Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(10), Florida Constitution. This brief opposing the proposed amendment is submitted by Floridians for Education Reform, a political action committee established under Chapter 106, Florida Statutes.

The proposed amendment adds section 7 to Article IX of the Florida Constitution. The text of the proposed amendment states:

State University System.—

- (a) Purposes. In order to achieve excellence through teaching students, advancing research and providing public service for the benefit of Florida's citizens, their communities and economies, the people hereby establish a system of governance for the state university system of Florida.
- (b) State University System. There shall be a single state university system comprised of all public universities. A board of trustees shall administer each public university and a board of governors shall govern the state university system.
- (c) Local Boards of Trustees. Each local constituent university shall be administered by a board of trustees consisting of thirteen members dedicated to the purpose of the state university system. The board of governors shall establish the powers and duties of the boards of trustees. Each board of trustees shall consist of six citizen members appointed by the governor and five citizen members appointed by the board of governors. The appointed members shall be confirmed by the senate and serve staggered terms of five years as provided by law. The

chair of the faculty senate, or the equivalent, and the president of the student body of the university shall also be members.

Statewide Board of Governors. The board of governors shall be a body corporate consisting of seventeen members. The board shall operate, regulate, control, and be fully responsible for the management of the whole university system. These responsibilities shall include, but not be limited to, defining the distinctive mission of each constituent university and its articulation with free public schools and community colleges, ensuring the well-planned coordination and operation of the system, and avoiding wasteful duplication of facilities or programs. The board's management shall be subject to the powers of the legislature to appropriate for the expenditure of funds, and the board shall account for such expenditures as provided by law. The governor shall appoint to the board fourteen citizens dedicated to the purposes of the state university system. The appointed members shall be confirmed by the senate and serve staggered terms of seven years as provided by law. commissioner of education, the chair of the advisory council of faculty senates, or the equivalent, and the president of the Florida student association, or the equivalent, shall also be members of the board.

The proposed ballot title and summary state:

Local Trustees and Statewide Governing Board to Manage Florida's University System.

A local board of trustees shall administer each state university. Each board shall have thirteen members dedicated to excellence in teaching, research, and service to community. A statewide governing board of seventeen members shall be responsible for the coordinated and accountable operation of the whole university system. Wasteful duplication of facilities or programs is to be avoided. Provides procedures for selection and confirmation of board members, including one student and one faculty representative per board.

The Attorney General in its March 4, 2002 petition to the Court, noted that the ballot title, summary and the proposed amendment contain several terms that are subject to an interpretation not intended by the amendment and that the

amendment itself appears to violate the single-subject rule set forth in Article XI, section 3, Florida Constitution.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The ballot title and summary do not meet the requirements of section 101.61(1), Florida Statutes (2001). Specifically, the title and summary fail to mention constitutional and statutory provisions that are affected by the proposed amendment, omit material facts, use misleading language, and contain undefined terms. These infirmities in the summary language that will appear on the ballot preclude the voter from making an informed decision about the proposed amendment. The ballot title and summary therefore should not be submitted to the voters.

The proposed amendment, likewise, is defective because it violates the single-subject rule set forth in Article XI, section 3 of the Florida Constitution. Specifically, the proposed amendment performs multiple government functions, effects a number of undisclosed constitutional provisions, and amounts to improper logrolling. The proposed amendment should not be submitted to the voters for any one of these reasons.

ARGUMENT

I. THE BALLOT SUMMARY IS AMBIGUOUS AND MISLEADING.

Pursuant to section 101.61 (1), Florida Statutes, a proposed amendment's ballot title and summary must state in clear and unambiguous language the initiative's primary purpose. Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General Re People's Property Rights, 699 So. 2d 1304, 1307 (Fla. 1997). This requirement insures that the voters will not be misled and allows them to cast an intelligent and informed vote. Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General Re Term Limits Pledge, 718 So. 2d 798 (Fla. 1998). Although the ballot summary need not be exhaustive, this Court has repeatedly held "that summaries which do not adequately define terms, use inconsistent terminology, fail to mention constitutional provisions that are affected, and do not adequately describe the general operation of the proposed amendment must be invalidated." Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General Re Amendment to Bar Government From Treating People Differently Based on Race in Public Education, 778 So. 2d 888, 899-900 (Fla. 2000). The proposed amendment's ballot title and summary here contain a number of these and other deficiencies, and consequently, will mislead the voters and preclude them from making an informed decision regarding the proposed constitutional amendment.

A. The Summary Fails To Identify Constitutional And Statutory Provisions That The Proposed Amendment Will Affect.

This Court has invalidated petitions that substantially modify another constitutional provision without mentioning this consequence in the ballot summary. *See Race in Public Education*, 778 So. 2d at 898 and cases cited therein. The Court also has invalidated petitions that have a summary which implies that no constitutional provision addressing the subject of the proposed amendment already exists. *Id*.

The Florida Constitution already requires that the Legislature provide for "the establishment, maintenance, and operation of institutions of higher learning" (Article IX, section 1); and for appointive boards dealing with education (Article IX, section 3); and makes the governor responsible for planning and budgeting for states, including state universities (Article IV, section 1). The proposed amendment ignores these constitutional provisions and, contrary to Article II, section 3 dividing state government into three branches, creates what amounts to an independent fourth branch of government to administer state universities.

Moreover, the proposed amendment nullifies the effect of the recently approved constitutional amendment to Article IX, section 2, of the Florida Constitution. Yet no mention is made of this provision in the ballot summary, and no explanation is offered anywhere of this consequence. See discussion in Part IIB of this Brief.

This Court has also invalidated initiative petitions that omit any mention of the laws, rules, and regulations that may be affected by a proposed amendment. *See In Re Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General - Restricts Laws Related to Discrimination*, 632 So. 2d 1018 (Fla. 1994). The Legislature recently passed the Florida Education Governance Reorganization Act, which created eleven university boards of trustees, similar to those provided for in the proposed amendment, to oversee each of the universities in the state university system. The Act also eliminated the Board of Regents and conferred the management and/or oversight authority for the university system in the Florida Board of Education, the body assigned to coordinate all education programs in public schools, community colleges, and universities. See Florida Statutes, sections 229.001-229.0082 (2001); Laws of Florida, Chapter 2001-170.

The ballot summary and title, as well as the proposed amendment, fail to indicate that the amendment will alter the newly structured system of university management, which has not yet even taken full effect. They also fail to indicate that the proposed amendment will divest the legislature of authority to pass such legislation in the future. As in *Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General Re Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission*, 705 So. 2d 1351, 1355 (Fla. 1998), the summary fails to inform the public of the transfer of power from the legislature to a

constitutionally created body. *See also Restricts Laws Related to Discrimination*, 632 So. 2d at 1021.

In addition, there is a misleading negative implication that the proposed amendment is necessary to establish boards of trustees for each state university or a statewide board to govern state universities when, in fact, such bodies already exist under current law in the form of the university boards of trustees and Florida Board of Education. *See Race in Public Education*, 778 So. 2d at 898.

Accordingly, the Court must invalidate the petition for the proposed amendment in this case for failure to comply with section 101.61(1) because the summary fails to identify the constitutional and statutory provisions affected by the proposed amendment and implies their absence.

B. The Title And Summary Fail To Indicate That The Board Of Governors Has Authority Over The Local Board Of Trustees.

A ballot summary may be defective if it omits material facts necessary to make the summary not misleading. *Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General-Limited Political Terms in Certain Elective Offices*, 592 So. 2d 225 (Fla. 1991). Here, the title and summary of the proposed amendment fail to indicate that the statewide board of governors has any authority over the local boards of trustees. The title, "Local Trustees and Statewide Governing Board to Manage Florida's University System" implies that both boards will manage the university system

equally. The summary does not indicate otherwise. The summary merely indicates that the statewide governing board will "be responsible for the coordinated and accountable operation of the whole university system." There is no indication that the statewide board is responsible for establishing the powers and duties of the local board of trustees as set forth in the proposed amendment. Voters can readily infer from the ballot summary that the local boards alone, or in conjunction with the statewide board, would establish the mission for each university. Consequently, the summary creates a false perception that local boards are in control or that the different boards are on equal footing with one another, and therefore fails to comply with section 101.61(1).

C. The Summary Falsely Implies That The Boards Are Selected By The Same Process.

The summary indicates that the proposed amendment provides procedures for selection and confirmation of board members. However, the summary implies, by grouping the board members from the separate boards together, that the same procedures will be employed to select the members of both boards. The process, however, is not the same. The governor appoints and the senate must confirm fourteen citizens to serve on the statewide board. The remaining three members are the commissioner of education, the chair of the advisory council faculty senates, or the equivalent, and the president of the Florida student association, or

the equivalent. The governor appoints and the senate confirms only six citizen members of the thirteen-member board, and the five additional members are selected by the board of governors. The chair of the faculty senate and the president of the student body at the university make up the final members of the local boards. Because the summary misleads the voter to believe that both the statewide board of governors and the local boards are chosen in the same way, it fails to comply with section 101.61(1).

D. The Summary Implies That The Statewide Board Of Governors Is Responsible For Overseeing Community Colleges.

The summary states that local boards of trustees shall administer "each university" and that a statewide board of governors will be responsible for the operation of "the whole university system." The average voter would likely understand "university" and "whole university system" in this context to mean that the boards will govern all higher learning in Florida, including community colleges. The average voter would not likely perceive the distinction between universities and colleges or community colleges, and may vote to approve the initiative assuming there will be local boards of trustees for community colleges, or

¹ The educational structure under current law provides for a chancellor of colleges and universities and a chancellor of community colleges under the Florida Board of Education. See § 229.003(2), Fla. Stat. It also provides for a division of colleges and universities and a division of community colleges within the Department of Education. See § 229.0073(4), Fla. Stat.

a statewide board to manage all postsecondary public education. However, the boards created by the proposed amendment will only be concerned with

universities and how they interrelate with the community colleges. Contrary to what the summary implies, community colleges will not be governed by any of the boards. Local boards will not be appointed for community colleges, and the statewide board will not supervise all state higher education institutions. For this reason as well, the summary fails to comply with section 101.61(1).

E. The Summary Contains Undefined Terms.

1. "Local"

As the Attorney General noted in his petition to the Court at page 3, the term "local" in the summary, title, and proposed amendment implies that the members of the board will be residents of, or affiliated with, a particular region of the state. However, the proposed amendment does not place any residence requirement on board members. It only indicates that they will be citizens appointed by the governor or in the case of some of the board of trustees, by the other members of the board. Hence, the summary is misleading to the voters and is defective.

2. "Accountable Operation"

The summary provides that the statewide board shall be responsible for the "coordinated and **accountable** operation of the whole university system." Based on this language, an average voter would likely conclude that the statewide board must answer to someone if the system is mismanaged. However, the title and the summary apparently use "accountable" in the fiscal sense of accounting for

expenditure of appropriated funds. This is consistent with the text of the proposed amendment which provides that the "board's management shall be subject to the powers of the legislature to appropriate for the expenditure of funds, and the board shall account for such expenditures as provided by law." Subsection (d). This Court has found inadequate a summary like this one which requires the voters to infer a meaning for a term that is not evident from the face of the summary. *See Race in Public Education*, 778 So. 2d at 888-89 and cases cited therein. Because the term "accountable" is subject to differing interpretations not defined by the summary, the summary is ambiguous and therefore is defective.

3. "Selection"

The summary indicates that the boards will be "selected", but does not indicate how selection will be made or by whom. The proposed amendment, however, specifically provides for "appointment" by the governor and senate confirmation, and designates certain members <u>ex officio</u>. Based on the summary, however, a voter might conclude that someone other that the governor would select the board members. For example, the voter might conclude that the selection will take place in an election, or that the Florida Board of Education or the various universities might make the selection. Moreover, a voter would not understand that some board members are not "selected" at all, but rather entitled to serve <u>ex officio</u>.

The use of the term "selection" in the summary, as opposed to "appointment", creates an ambiguity and is misleading. In the past, the Florida Supreme Court has rejected summaries that create ambiguity by using terminology that differs from the text of the proposed amendment. *See e.g., Race in Public Education*, 778 So. 2d at 896-97 (setting forth decisions in which the Court found divergent terminology in the summary and proposed amendment created ambiguity). Specifically, *In Re Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General Re Casino Authorization, Taxation and Regulation*, 656 So. 2d 466, 468-69 (Fla. 1995), invalidated a petition where the summary used the term "hotel" but the proposed amendment used the term "transient lodging establishment." There, the Court concluded:

while the summary leads voters to believe that casinos will be operated only in "hotels," the proposed amendment actually permits voters to authorize casinos in any number of facilities, including a bed and breakfast inn. We believe that the public perceives the term "hotel" to have a much narrower meaning that the term "transient lodging establishment."

Id. at 468-69. Similar to Casino Authorization, the voters might construe the term "selection" to encompass a different or broader process than the term "appointment." Hence, the summary uses divergent terminology that may mislead voters and is defective.

II. THE PROPOSED AMENDMENT VIOLATES THE SINGLE-SUBJECT RULE.

This Court requires strict compliance with the single-subject rule in the initiative process for constitutional change. *Fine v. Firestone*, 448 So. 2d 984 (Fla. 1984); *Race in Public Education*, 778 So. 2d at 891. Strict compliance is required because the Constitution is the basic document that controls governmental functions, and because the initiative process does not allow opportunity for public hearing and debate inherent in other methods of changing the Constitution. *See Race in Public Education*, 778 So. 2d at 891; Fish & Wildlife Conservation Commission, 705 So. 2d at 1353.

A. The Initiative Alters Or Performs Multiple Functions Of Government.

When a proposal substantially alters or performs the functions of multiple branches of government, it violates the single-subject rule. *Race in Public Education*, 778 So. 2d at 892. The test is functional, not locational "and where a proposed amendment changes more than one government function it is clearly multi-subject." *Id.* at 895 (quoting *Evans v. Firestone*, 457 So. 2d 1351 (Fla. 1984). Pursuant to the single-subject test, a proposal that affects statutory enactments, as well as executive enforcement and decision-making, is invalid. *Id.* at 895 (*citing Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General Re People's Property Use*, *Rights Amendments Providing Compensation for Redistricting Real Property Use*,

699 So. 2d 1304, 1308 (Fla. 1997)). Likewise, a proposal that affects both state and local functions is invalid. *Id.* at 895-96.

The Attorney General in his March 4, 2002 petition at page 6 observed that:

The proposed amendment appears to substantially affect both the executive and the legislative branches of government. It creates a system of government for the State University System located within the executive branch of government. In addition, it elevates the university board of trustees to a constitutional office and appears to remove a significant portion of the Legislature's authority to enact legislation regulating the duties and responsibilities of the local boards of trustees as well as the statewide governing board.

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