IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC02-449

Upon Request From the Attorney General For An Advisory Opinion As To The Validity Of An Initiative Petition

ADVISORY OPINION TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

RE: LOCAL TRUSTEES AND STATEWIDE GOVERNING BOARD TO MANAGE FLORIDA'S UNIVERSITY SYSTEM

ANSWER BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF THE SPONSOR, EDUCATION EXCELLENCE FOR FLORIDA

GIBSON, VALENTI & ASHLEY

Robin Gibson, FBN 028594 Kevin A. Ashley, FBN 056138 212 E. Stuart Avenue Lake Wales, FL 33853 (863) 676-8584 Counsel for the Sponsor

Timothy McLendon, FBN 038067 510 S.W. 34th Street, #5 Gainesville, FL 32607

(352) 378-4267 **Co-Counsel for the Sponsor**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Education Excellence for Florida submitted a Statement of the Case and Facts in its Initial Brief and no further elaboration on that statement is necessary.

For ease of reference, the title, ballot summary, and amendment text under consideration are included as Appendix 1 to this brief.

Floridians for Education Reform filed an initial brief in this proceeding in opposition to the proposed initiative and will hereafter be referred to as "FER."

In order to avoid the use of confusing acronyms, Education Excellence for Florida will hereafter be referenced as "Sponsor," with the hope that changing its designation from "EEF" in the Initial Brief to "Sponsor" in this brief will better facilitate understanding, rather than introducing an element of confusion.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Floridians for Education Reform ("FER") opposes the initiative by peppering the proposal with nineteen objections, challenging the amendment's ballot summary compliance with section 101.161, Fla. Stat., the constitutional requirements laid down by Article XI, Section 3, Fla. Const. and this Court's criteria in *Advisory Op. to the Att'y Gen. Re Amendment to Bar Gov't From Treating People Differently Based on*

Race in Public Educ., 778 So. 2d 888, 899-900 (Fla. 2000).

Twelve of the nineteen objections are aimed at the ballot summary. Contrary to FER's contentions, the proposed amendment to place a university governance system in the constitution does not conflict with other provisions in the constitution. In fact, the constitution does not specify a governance system for universities. The initiative fills this void and fits nicely into Article IX devoted to education. The ballot summary is straightforward and forthright about the amendment's chief purpose to replace the present system with a different constitution-based system. invalidation of current statutory law is part and parcel of the amendment's clearly stated chief purpose. The ballot summary uses the same commonly understood terms as appear in the text of the amendment to fairly communicate the amendment's most important features. Within the allowed seventy-five words, the mentioned features include: the power of the statewide board to govern the system; the responsibility of each local board to administer the affairs of its particular constituent university; the diversity of board membership; the senate confirmation of appointed members; the accountability to the legislature for the operation of the system; and several other important features to which FER does not object.

The initiative's proposed governance system functions entirely within the executive branch of government. The system performs no legislative function, is specifically "subject to" the legislative power to appropriate funds, contains no

judicial powers, and easily meets the constitution's single-subject test. The amendment's proposed system is not a "logrolling" trap for the voter, since the two tiers – statewide board and local boards – are inseparable parts of the same governmental unit consisting of one body corporate. The initiative meets the required statutory and constitutional tests and should be placed on the ballot for consideration by the voters.

ARGUMENT

I. INTRODUCTION

Those drafting petitions to amend the Florida Constitution know from the beginning that their efforts will be reviewed by this Court while the initiative process is in midstream. This timing results in a high degree of concern and provides strong incentive for caution. Fortunately, the controlling statute and this Court's decisions provide sufficient guidelines for drafting proposed amendments.

As for ballot summaries, the polestar is section 101.161, Fla. Stat., stating that the one thing the summary must do is clearly and unambiguously state the chief purpose of the measure. This Court has provided helpful standards for drafters in *Advisory Op. to the Att'y Gen. Re Amendment to Bar Gov't From Treating People Differently Based on Race in Public Educ.*, 778 So. 2d 888, 899-900 (Fla. 2000), stating that summaries should 1) adequately define terms, 2) use consistent

terminology, 3) mention constitutional provisions affected by the amendment, and 4) adequately describe the general operation of the proposed amendment. The amendment proposed here meets all of these criteria.

As explained in the Initial Brief, the Sponsor has taken the best constitutional principles from the best university systems in the country, and seeks to make such a governance system part of Florida's constitution for the lasting benefit of the state and its citizens. As will be seen below, every effort was made to accurately convey to the voter in straightforward, no-nonsense language the chief purpose of the amendment and the way the proposed system would work.

The issues raised by the Attorney General¹ were sufficiently addressed in the Sponsor's Initial Brief and no further elaboration will be made here. FER filed an initial brief in opposition to the proposed amendment. FER's brief takes a scattershot approach and advances nineteen objections to the proposed amendment. Twelve of the objections attack the ballot summary. This brief will respond to each of FER's objections in the order they were raised.

1 The Attorney General's Request for Opinion will be referenced as "AG's Request"

II. THE BALLOT TITLE AND SUMMARY CLEARLY AND UNAMBIGUOUSLY DESCRIBE THE CHIEF PURPOSE OF THE AMENDMENT.

A. The Proposed Amendment Would Not Change or Substantially Affect Other Provisions of the Constitution; The Amendment's Clearly Stated Chief Purpose is to Replace the Existing Statutory System With a New Constitutional System.

FER contends that the proposed amendment would substantially affect five other provisions in the constitution and would also substantially alter statutory language presently on the books. This brief addresses first the constitutional questions and then the statutory issues.

1. The proposed amendment would not change other sections of the constitution.

Before addressing each specific objection raised by FER and the particular section of the constitution it concerns, an overall view of how the proposed amendment would fit in the constitution will provide a useful perspective. The amendment would appear as a new Section 7 in Article IX. (Appendix 1). For ease of reference, Article IX has been included as Appendix 2 to this brief. The article's title shows that it is devoted to "Education." It is the smallest article in the constitution, containing only six short sections. The first three sections concern education in general. ² The last three sections concern local school boards and their

² For a review of how the changes to Article IX, Section 2, effective January 7, 2003, will affect the issues at hand, see pp. 9 and 10 of this Brief.

jurisdiction over kindergarten through the twelfth grade. As can be seen by simply scanning the article, there is a noticeable void in the constitution for community colleges and universities. (Appendix 1). This amendment would fit nicely into Article IX, fill the void for universities, and achieve the desired "harmony of purpose both internally and within the broader context of the American federal system and Florida law itself." *In re Advisory Op. to the Att'y Gen. Restricts Laws Related to Discrimination*, 632 So. 2d 1018, 1022 (Fla. 1994) (Kogan, J., concurring).

FER contends that the adoption of the amendment would substantially affect Article II, Section 3 (Separation of Powers), Article IV, Section 1 (Governor's Responsibility for Planning and Budgeting), Article IX, Section 1 (Adequate Provision for Institutions of Higher Learning), Article IX, Section 2 (Supervision of the State Board of Education), and Article IX, Section 3 (Terms for Appointive Boards Dealing with Education) and that the voters should be so notified.

The issues raised by these objections are mixed. They involve both ballot summary, notice-to-voter issues (§ 101.161, Fla. Stat. (2000)), and constitutional single-subject issues (Art. IX, § 3, Fla. Const.). In the interest of brevity, at this point the brief will address both the statutory and the constitutional aspects of FER's contentions concerning these five enumerated sections. As a result, it will not be necessary to revisit these sections in the single-subject portion of this brief.

Arguments concerning purported impacts on other portions of the constitution

take three forms. First, whether a proposed amendment would result in "identifiable changes in the functions of different levels and branches of government [is] sufficient to warrant invalidating the amendments." *Advisory Op. to the Att'y Gen. Re Amendment to Bar Gov't From Treating People Differently Based on Race in Public Educ.*, 778 So. 2d 888, 896 (Fla. 2000). In this instance, the question is controlled by Article IX, Section 3. Violation of this section would result in invalidation by this Court before the matter went to the voters. Thus, it would not be a ballot summary, section 101.161 issue.

Second, an amendment "may amend multiple sections of the constitution as long as the proposal contains a single subject" *Fine v. Firestone*, 448 So. 2d 984, 989 (Fla. 1984). In this instance, the amendment would not only have to satisfy the Article IV, Section 3 single-subject requirement, it would also have to satisfy the section 101.161 requirements for its ballot summary before it would be allowed by this Court to go to the voters.

Third, if an examination of an amendment text and ballot summary shows that the amendment would not alter the functions of different levels and branches of government (the first instance) and would not substantially affect other provisions of the constitution (the second instance), then logically no notice to the voter in the ballot summary is required – or even possible. The following review of the five constitutional provisions identified by FER should serve to conclusively demonstrate

that this amendment falls in the third category. There is neither a change to the functions of government nor a substantial affect to other provisions of the constitution.

No notice to the voter in the ballot summary is required – or even possible.

Art. II, Section 3. FER contends that the adoption of the proposal would create an autonomous fourth branch of government for state universities. FER made this same contention when discussing constitutional issues in general. The fourth branch discussion occurs in this brief in one place and is found below in Section III devoted to constitutional issues.

Art. IV, Section 1. FER contends that the adoption of the proposed amendment would "presumably" impact the Governor's responsibility for the planning and budgeting for the state. This assertion is difficult to understand. The proposed amendment would establish a governing board for the purpose of managing the work of the university system. From 1905 (Board of Control) to 1965 (Board of Regents) through 2001 (Board of Regents abolished), Florida's State University System was managed by a statutory governing board with the specifically enumerated powers to plan³ and prepare legislative budget requests⁴ for the university system. For ninety-six years, governors successfully proposed budgets to the legislature while the university governing board exercised their statutory authority to plan and recommend

^{3 § 240.209(3)(}a), Fla. Stat. (1999).

^{4 § 240.209(3)(}d), Fla. Stat. (1999).

budgets for the system. The procedure would be no different if the same authority were granted by the constitution rather than by statute.

Art. IX, Section 1. With regard to this section, FER simply restates the position originally advanced by the Attorney General and adds nothing to the Attorney General's previous observations. As pointed out in the Sponsor's Initial Brief, adopting the amendment would leave Section 1 of Article IX unchanged. The section imposes upon the legislature the obligation to make "adequate provision" for the "establishment, maintenance, and operation of *institutions of higher learning*" – not just universities. (emphasis added). The obligation to adequately fund <u>all</u> institutions of higher learning would fully remain. To the extent the obligation to make "adequate provision" extends to other aspects of adequacy beyond funding, the legislature would continue to have full responsibility for community colleges and would also have responsibility for universities in all aspects not inconsistent with the new amendment.

Art. IX, Section 2. FER admits to uncertainty as to the impact that the new Article IX, Section 2 will have on education, but nonetheless states that the ballot summary should be required to explain the impact – whatever it is. Article IX, Section 2, providing for the State Board of Education, was amended by the electorate in 1998 pursuant to the recommendation of the Constitution Revision Commission. The amendment takes effect January 7, 2003. (Appendix 2). On that date, the membership of the State Board of Education will change. The elected governor and

cabinet will be replaced by governor-appointed citizen members. Most importantly, the board will no longer have the general jurisdiction to *supervise the system of public education*, but will have the more focused jurisdiction to *supervise the system of free public education*. The "system of free public education" is quite obviously the "uniform system of free public schools" referenced in Article IX, Section 1, which this Court has traditionally distinguished from the "institutions of higher learning" and "other public education programs." *See Board of Public Instruction of Brevard County v. State Treasurer*, 231 So. 2d 1, 2 (Fla. 1970) (system of free public education is the K-12 system that all Florida residents have the right to attend for free). On January 7, 2003, Section 2 of Article IX will join Sections 4, 5, and 6 of the Article with concern only for education through the twelfth grade.

The proposed amendment, if adopted, would take effect at the same time that the changes will occur to Section 2 of Article IX – January 7, 2003.⁵ On that date, Section 2 will pertain to K-12 and the new Section 7 would pertain to universities.

⁵ Art. XI, § 5(c), Fla. Const. Following this year's general election, constitutional amendments adopted by the people will take effect on the first Tuesday after the first Monday in January. That date is January 7, 2003.

There would be no conflict or overlap between the two sections.

Art. IX, Section 3. FER once again restates the position previously taken by the Attorney General. Nothing additional is advanced. The section authorizes the Legislature to set terms of office in excess of four years for members of *any appointive boards dealing with education* – not just universities. As pointed out in the Sponsor's Initial Brief, this amendment would result in no change to Section 3 of Article IX. The legislature will retain its authorization to set terms of office exceeding four years for members of appointive boards of community colleges and any other appointive boards in the state's education establishment.

2. There is Nothing Misleading or Confusing About the Proposal's Chief Purpose: Replace the Existing Statutory System With a New Constitutional System.

The ballot summary for the proposed amendment could not be more clear or straightforward: the chief purpose is to create a system of governance for the State University System in place of the present system. The Attorney General readily understood the concept, stating that the amendment would "create[s] a system of governance for the State University System located within the executive branch of government," and concluding that "the ballot title and summary appear to express this chief purpose." AG's Request, pp. 5, 3. A sponsor's principle task is to clearly and unambiguously state the amendment's chief purpose:

We have previously determined that this section "requires that the ballot title and summary for a proposed constitutional amendment state in clear and unambiguous language the chief purpose of the measure." *Askew v. Firestone*, 421 So. 2d 151, 154-55 (Fla. 1982). Nevertheless, the title and summary need not explain every detail or ramification of the proposed amendment. *Carroll v. Firestone*, 497 So. 2d 1204, 1206 (Fla. 1986). Our responsibility is to determine whether the language of the title and summary, as written, misleads the public.

Advisory Op. to the Att'y Gen. Re: Prohibiting Public Funding of Political Candidates' Campaigns, 693 So. 2d 972, 975 (Fla. 1997).

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